
                              VOICES OF COURAGE

The office of Public Commission on Human Rights (PCHR) received a 35 minutes video CD from Surankote. The CD has been sent to this office by one Abdul Rashid Zargar son of Subhal Joo Zargar resident of Shambla Surankote, Poonch in which he has stated that since he is likely to be eliminated by the LU agency and the Deputy Brigade Commander of 25 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) camped at Draba, Surankote. Before he would be eliminated, he has recorded the statement so that it could be used as evidence against the agencies, which are bent upon to eliminate him. The video recording has been made in a paddy field and the narration made by Abdul Rashid gives the full account of the details why the agencies are after him. 

This middle-aged person along with few supporters has earlier visited this office nearly a month ago for legal and moral support for his safety. During his visit to the valley, he had sought the similar help from the journalists and different political parties. Determined to expose the nefarious designs of the army, he had stated in this office that he is not afraid of his death. As a true believer, he thinks that things are preordained and predestined. When one has to live, nobody is going to kill him and when one has to die, nobody can save him. As a Muslim, he believes it his religious duty to fight injustice. Citing the Hadith, he observed that if you see a wrong, being done, stop it by force. If enable to stop by force, condemn with loud words. If enable to do that also, condemn in your heart, which is the weakest form of faith. Abdul Rashid resolved that he couldn’t remain a mute spectator to the excesses being committed by the army in his area. He provided details about the excesses committed by the army in his area and lamented that the media and human rights organizations are not highlighting it, nor they are visiting these areas. As a strategy, he has obtained a rifle from the police after he recruited himself in Village Defence Committee (VDC). He said he did it so that it could deter the army to eliminate him at his home. Though army has pressurized the police to recover the rifle from Rashid, accusing him of supporting militancy. He has become vocal against the perpetrators and had made them defensive, but he had also to pay a heavy price for his audacity, as his nephew Mustaq Ahmad Zargar, a key witness in his case has been eliminated in a fake encounter on 7 September 2006, by the troops which he believed has been done at the behest of the army intelligence, Surankote. 

Rashid’s courage has not been highlighted by the media, as already media’s presence is least in the area unless some big incident takes place. Abdul Rashid’s case is not an isolated one. There are people who have shown courage and valour under pressure unlike others who have opted silence. There are many incidents where these unsung heroes have resisted the evil designs of the army from different areas of Jammu and Kashmir during last 18 turbulent years. Sheikh Abdul Rashid, an engineer from Lachi, Mawar, Handwara confronted army against forced labor and custodial deaths in the area. On February 4, 2003, he protested with hundreds of villager’s against the army. Besides protests, he kept writing in the local newspapers against human rights violations, committed not only by the army but the militants as well. Not only did he earn the wrath of the army, he was also ostracized by his family for doing that. 

One person namely Beig from Uri – Baramulla in mid 90’s had to undergo severe ordeals. Even he had migrated from Uri because of his confrontation with the local authorities and the army for the excesses they had unleashed in his area. Nearly, for four years he had to litigate in courts against his suspension and the other cases filed against the army. So was the condition of one lady from the same area who was persuaded by the army to work for them as an informer. On her refusal to accept their dictates, she was implicated in Public Safety Act (PSA) and other cases. She preferred to migrate from her area for 3-4 years facing untold hardships. 

It is amazing that while as the elite section of the society easily submit and crawl even if they are only told to bow, whereas the non-elite section of the society have demonstrated exceptional courage, ingenuity and self-sacrifice. They have given resistance with all possible means at their disposal for the safety, honor and life of others. The army’s strategy in the rural areas most particularly near the Line of Control (LOC) is to involve the locals against counter-insurgency measures particularly for information gathering, by resorting to bribes, inducement, fraud and deceit, threats and intimidation. 

The innocent people observing that the civil administration including the police cannot help them. They feel no choice but to oblige the army and by doing so they make themselves more vulnerable to militants also. They get trapped in a state of devil and a deep sea.  The army’s strategy is also to crush any resistance from any person who dares to question the army’s modus operandi. The person has to either leave the place or to pay with his/her blood. The army doesn’t want there should be any role models or inspirations for others. There are innumerable incidents during last 18 years of turmoil where people in inaccessible areas beyond the searchlights of press / media and human rights organizations have questioned the army’s excesses and have either fallen or migrated from their respective areas. 


The only way is to encourage these resistance cells, is to commend, acknowledge and highlight those courageous people.  It is also the responsibility of the civil society to provide the moral support to those people who have shown exemplary grace under pressure.                 

KILLINGS OF TWO POLITICAL ACTIVISTS IN FAKE ENCOUNTER
September 8, 2006 edition of local dailies carried a news item that the 82 batallion of Border Security Forces (BSF) killed two militants during an encounter in a village Akel, Rajpora Pulwama of south Kashmir on 7 September 2006. Police also claimed that they have recovered arms and ammunition from the site of the encounter.

The deceased have been identified as Mushtaq Ahmad Zargar and Mohammad Rashid.


Less than 24 hours after the incident, the BSF claim was challenged. The families of the deceased youth vehemently rejected the BSF claim as baseless and allege they were killed in a fake encounter. They also visited the office of the Public Commission of Human Rights (PCHR) for legal assistance. A petition through PCHR was filed before the Jammu & Kashmir High Court. 

In the press statement, Muslim League alleged that the slain civilians were political activists of their party, who had visited their office during their visit to valley from Surankote and killed because of their affiliation with the party. Abdul Rashid Zargar, uncle of deceased Mushtaq Zargar, resident of Sangla, Surankote who had earlier visited the PCHR office for legal help against the harassment to him and his family members by Deputy Commandant of 25 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) giving full version about the incident. Abdul Rashid Zargar, son of Subul Joo stated:-

In the year 2000, Captain Sharma of LU agency raided my house. He searched my house, store and shop. After finding nothing he arrested me. I was in his captivity for about 8 days he tortured me severely and after that I was detained in the JIC where I was put to third degree method for 53 days without any charge, but they could not get anything from me finally police released me. After that the LU agency was coercing me to work as an informer for them. I was engaged with my business of goldsmith. After I refused to work as an informer, in presence of advocate Murtaza, Captain Sharma threatened me that he would kill me. I met Brigade Commander, SHO police station Surankote and the Dy.SP and intimated them about the threats that I was receiving from the LU agency. Captain Sharma was transferred from the area by the Brigade Commander. The LU agency again harassed and threatened me and my family of the dire consequences. I wrote an application to Sub-Judge Surankote and also informed concerned police station regarding the threats by the LU agency, but all in vain.


After that another Deputy Brigade Commander S.K. Dalal was post at Potha, a village in the area and started to harass me. Often, he used to call me to come to the camp and those days I was suffering from the disc problem and was not able to walk properly. One day, I was walking along the road and there was cue of army vehicles. The vehicles stopped and the Brigade Commander S.K. Dalal called me and told why you don’t visit our camp. I replied him that I have not recuperated from my back ache. He then offered me to ascend his vehicle but I refused, because I knew that he would get me killed if I accompany him. Next day, the Commander called me on phone and threatened of the dire consequences if I don’t visit the camp. On the same day I went to the camp along with two persons. Before I entered the camp, I told my two companions to inform all the shopkeepers regarding my presence in the camp, because around 20 persons were killed so far in the same manner.


When I arrived inside the camp, the commander told me why you don’t visit the camp and intimidate me. I replied that I remain busy with my work and I don’t have much time to make often visits to the camp. The commander again threatened me. After receiving harsh threats, I moved an application to the National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) on 10th June 2005. I got reply on 24 October 2005 that my application was entertained in the NHRC and an enquiry would be conducted in the matter. The Commander was informed regarding the application that I forwarded to NHRC. He again started to harass and terrorize me. He also informed the LU agency and they also threatened me of dire consequences. Then during the day time, I was running the shop and in the nights, I was taking refuge at relatives’ house, because of the fear of the death threats. With the passage of time, S.K. Dalal was transferred from the area and new Brigade Commander of 6 Sector, Gupta was placed. Before his transfer, S.K. Dalal had given all my whereabouts to the newly deputed Gupta.


Then Commander Gupta started to terrify me through phone calls and by other means. I told Gupta I am not guilty of anything why I would be killed. Afetr some time my nephew Mushtaq Ahamad Zargar went to Sangla village and he was carrying a cell phone with him. On the way to Sangla, his mobile phone was snatched by the militants and after two days he came back to his village and filed a report in the police station regarding the theft of his mobile phone. After that Commander Gupta called me to Potha camp and told me that he has killed hundreds of people in Punjab and Kupwara and to kill me is not a big matter for him. He also called my two sons Amirudin and Shabir to the camp and also harassed them. Frequently, the army was raiding our house without informing the local police.   


Then my nephew, Mushtaq was also called to the camp where he revealed all the details of the theft of his cell phone to Gupta. The Brigade Commander and a Sikh Commanding Officer (CO) of 25RR detained Mushtaq and kept him in the JIC Jammu where he was severely tortured. After a few days, he was brought back to Poonch and was freed from the police station. After few days of Mushtaq’s release, I and Mushtaq were going to the market towards our shop; meanwhile army cordoned off the whole market and arrested both of us. The army took us to their town commander camped at Draba. When we arrived there, we found Gupta, Sikh CO there. We both were questioned separately and gave separate statements. While questioning, I asserted to the Commanders, if I am proved wrong, I will shoot myself with the Village Defence Committee (VDC) gun and would confess that I am a traitor and criminal. Then the CO called upon DIG’s office at Rajouri and told them to withdraw my gun possession because they apprehended, if they raid my house during night I would retaliate them with my gun.


They kept us detained for the whole day and did not provide us food or water and even they did not allow us to answer nature’s call. The army terrorized both of my sons and threatened them of death. Then I forwarded an application to the Chief Justice Jammu & Kashmir High court, Chief Minister of the State, Prime Minister of India, President of India and to the Governor of the J&K state. The Chief justice forwarded the case register to the Judicial Magistrate Poonch for enquiry. Brigade Commander Gupta, Commanding Officer and the LU agency, all of these had terrorized and terrified me of the elimination of our dynasty. I wrote all such contents in the application. Later my nephew Mushtaq Zargar, son of  Mohadjoo Zargar was killed, which I also stated in the said application. Then both Gupta and I were called to the Sessions Court Poonch. After the first hearing, I was called by CO of the 25RR to Draba, he told me that why I submitted application against them and also threatened me of the dire consequences and told me to give up the matter, that I resisted. Then for the second time, Deputy Brigade Commander and I were called to the court. After the court proceedings, we went out of the court and the Brigade Commander caught me and again threatened me. This was witnessed by my nephew, Mushtaq Zargar. Mushtaq was an eyewitness to all the threats given to me. Mushtaq had to present himself as a witness on 22 August in the court. Before presenting himself in the court he was called by the CO of 25RR. The CO offered him rupees 40000 for not becoming a witness in the case, but Mushtaq was brave and honest he refused his offer and told him that he is going be a witness in the case. He was threatened of death but he did not give up his courage. Then on 30 August, Mushtaq went to Srinagar to the Hurriyat office. He was carrying a bag with him containing cloths and 2kilograms of Ghee. On August 30 in the evening I talked to him on phone. That time he was in the bus and was about to leave to Srinagar. He reached to Srinagar on 31st August and there was a marriage ceremony at Pakherpora, Budgam. Mushtaq and another person namely Rashid went to attend the marriage party. On September 1, they stayed at the marriage ceremony and next they left back to Jammu in a Sumo vehicle. On the way to Jammu the sumo was stopped at Pulwama wherefrom Mushtaq and Rashid were picked up and on 3rd, 4th, 5th and 6th October, we had no information about their location. They were under custody for four days and afterwards killed. Their bodies were left in a field and were fired upon indiscriminately in order to prove that they were killed in an encounter. It is believed that army was the instrument in the elimination of Mushtaq and Rashid. Following this incident I sought security from Dy. SP. He allotted two body guards for my safety. 

YOUTH TORTURED TO DEATH 

A nineteen-year-old boy was tortured to death by the STF (Special Task Force) personnel in Bandipora, 70 kilkometers in north of Kashmir. The deceased was identified as Zahoor Ahmad Sofi son of Habibullah Sofi resident of Brar, Argam, Bandipora. Zahoor was working as a peon in B.Ed College at Bandipora. He was picked up from his house in the evening of August 26 and was under detention for 10 days. In detention he was subjected to the brutal torture, which caused his death in custody. The incident triggered a massive protest demonstration in the whole Bandipora area. The protesters voiced anti – Indian and anti - forces slogans and demanded for justice. Deputy Commissioner Baramulla has ordered a magisterial enquiry into the incident.  


On September 15, 2006 the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the village and enquired about the incident from the victim family and the residents of the Argam village.

Habib-u-llah Sofi, father of the deceased Zahoor said, “it was the fateful evening of August 26 at around 8:30pm, we were inside our house when we heard the knock on the door of our house. As soon as I opened the door, STF personnel straightway rushed in. They order all the male members to move out of the house and detained women members in a room. We were in our courtyard and an STF Sub-Inspector asked for our names. We revealed our names and after that the officer told my son, Zahoor to call some of the STF personnel standing at the main entry of courtyard. Obeying orders, Zahoor went towards the gate of our courtyard but the two STF personnel who were present there caught him and bundled him into their vehicle after blindfolding him. I chased them and pleaded for my son’s release but they fled away. We rushed to the police post Argam, Bandipora and the met DO (Divisional Officer), Bashir Ahmad and requested him to look into the matter of my son’s arrest. The police officer called STF headquarters at Kaloosa, Bandipora on phone and asked them about my son’s arrest. The STF personnel accepted the responsibility of my son’s arrest and told police Bashir Ahmad (DO) that they have arrested my son for some questioning and would be released soon. Then police officer Bashir Ahmad told us to come tomorrow. Next day when we went to the police station we found police officer, Bashir Ahmad absent from the duty. We asked police personnel about their officer; they replied that he left early in the morning to his home for vacations. Then I went to police station Bandipora and met the Station House Officer (SHO). SHO told me that they will investigate the matter and told me to come tomorrow. Next day afternoon, STF personnel raided our house and ransacked our household items. They even demolished walls of our rooms in search of the ammunition but found nothing. We told them that our son is not associated with militancy and there is no ammunition in our house but they did not listen to us and still carried on. On August 28 at around 4:30 pm our house was again raided and searched. We pleaded the STF personnel for the release of Zahoor, however they did not listen to our cries and fled away. On August 29, I again visited Police station and talked to SHO (Station House Officer). The officer again said that Zahoor is in the STF quarters at Kaloosa and would be released soon. I requested him for arranging a meeting with my son but he answered that it is impossible. After that I approached Abdullah Wani, People’s Democratic Party (PDP) party member, he contacted Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) Bandipora and asked him about Zahoor’s release. The DSP uttered same words that he would get my son released, but nothing happened”. 


Habib-u-ullah further adds, ”When police did not help us, I approached different high ups like Deputy Chief Minister Muzaffar Hussain Beigh, Usman Majeed, our concerned MLA, MLC Nizamudin Bhat and other higher officials in the police and administration. The high ups also promised that they would look into the matter and would get Zahoor released soon. Finally on September 3, the police and STF told us that tomorrow he would be released. We were restless for Zahoor’s return and on September 4 in the morning, someone told us that Zahoor is in the Sub district hospital, Bandipora. We rushed to the hospital and found Zahoor’s dead body. The police had received his dead body from the STF quarters and had taken it for the autopsy in the hospital.


The news about Zahoor’s death sparked off massive demonstrations in the Bandipora area. During the protest demonstration DC (Deputy Commissioner) Baramulla Baseer Khan visited the area and assured the protesters for justice. He ordered a magisterial inquiry into the incident.

The autopsy report says that Zahoor was brutally tortured which lead to his death. There were visible torture marks all over his body. 

TRAGIC FAMILY

Herpora is a village in the Sumlar, Bandipora area of northern district Baramulla, 75 kilometers away from Srinagar city.  A chain of mountains lie at the periphery of the village and is a picturesque spot.  On the other side, however, the armed conflict, since its onset, has affected most of the families in the area.  The lives of the people of Herpora have almost been devastated because of the human rights violations, taking place on a regular basis in the area. 

In Herpora, there is the dwelling of Ghulam Rasool Sofi, a Sub-Inspector in the department of Fire and Emergency. His family suffered from several tragedies during the time span of last five years. The first tragedy was the killing of Ghulam Rasool’s brother-in-law by the militants in the year 2002. The second calamity in 2004 when Ghulam Rasool’s wife Haneefa received a bullet in her leg, third one in the year 2003 when Ghulam Rasool’s two younger sons, Waseem and Yasir got severely wounded during cross firing between militants and troops while they were coming back from school in a local bus, then the fourth calamity which took place at the time when Ghulam Rasool was arrested on the charge of sheltering militants and was booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) and  the fifth recent irretrievable tragedy was the killing of daughter, Tahira, 21, a B.A 2nd year student in the degree college Sopore. She was killed by some unidentified gunmen at her house. 

Manzoor Ahmad Bhat, cousin of the deceased Tahira said while speaking to The Informative Missive, “On August 27 2006 at around 7:45pm, my uncle’s family was about to have dinner, in the meantime some one knocked at the door. There was no elder male member in the house, because my uncle, Ghulam Rasool was languishing in the jail. My aunt, three cousin sisters including Tahira and two younger cousin brothers were present in the house. On hearing the knock, they got frightened. Somehow my aunt opened the door and found seven unidentified gunmen at the door. The gunmen told her that our four persons want to have some food. Due to the fear, my aunt took them inside. Three gunmen stayed outside and four went inside. Two gunmen demanded for rice and two asked for tea. We provided them tea & food and after taking food, two gunmen told Tahira that they want to talk to her. The family succumbed and let their daughter to talk to the gunmen. Out of the four gunmen, two went in a separate room along with Tahira to ask her something. The gunmen also snatched her cell phone. The gunmen talked to her for about 5 minutes and one of the gunmen standing outside the room rushed towards the room. The gunmen barged into the room and opened fire on her. They shot a barrage of bullets over her, the bullets hit the neck of Tahira and some hit the walls of the room. On receiving the bullets she fell down on the floor and the gunmen fled away. While the gunmen rushed out of the house my aunt carrying a lantern chased them and tried to get hold of one of the gunmen but in return the gunmen pushed her down and with the push she fell unconscious”.  

“My cousin sisters, Ruksana and Shabnam and brothers, Waseem and Yasir raised hue and cry while as my aunt was unconscious. Due to their shrieks, we and the other inhabitants of the village rushed towards their house. We found Tahira in a moribund condition as she was severely wounded by the bullets. We rushed her to the sub district hospital, Bandipora, but being in critical condition she was referred to the SKIMS, Soura, Srinagar. In SKIMS she underwent treatment for 12 days but finally she succumbed to her injuries on 7th September, 2006.Nobody claimed the responsibility for the killing and the reason for her killing till now is not known. The family is suffering a lot after this brutal incident, because these days we are facing different humiliating questions and taunts from the people which are more agonizing than the killings of our sister. The incident totally devastated the family as they had already endured a lot during the past decade”, added Manzoor. 

While recollecting the past tragedies of the family Manzoor further said, “My aunt’s family was already very much grief stricken as the first blow to the family was the killing of my aunt’s brother, Riyaz Ahmad Bhat, 25, son of Hayat Bhat, resident of Sumlar Bandipora who was a  domestic worker by profession. He was killed by the militants in May 2002. He was accused of being an informer of the army where as the allegation was baseless. Then, in the year 2003 my two younger cousins, Waseem, 2nd and Yasir, 3rd standard student were injured during cross firing between army and the militants. They were studying in the Age Model Institute Kaloosa. On April 30, 2003, they were traveling back to home from their school in a local bus. As soon as the bus reached at Shukhbaba Sumlar, there occurred a strong exchange of fire between the militants and troops. During the exchange of fire, the bus was hit by the bullets and both Waseem and Yasir got injured. Waseem was critically wounded as he received five bullets in the head whereas Yasir got some bruises by the firing. Waseem was rushed to the SKIMS Srinagar for the immediate treatment. An immediate surgery was conducted in which three bullets were taken out from Waseem’s head, but the other two bullets are still lying inside the head. The doctors at the time of surgery told us that if we remove the remaining two bullets there is an apprehension of memory loss. Then the doctors suggested us that the remaining bullets are to be removed after the ten years of the surgery and those bullets are yet to be removed. Due to the injury in some portion of the nervous system, Waseem’s right arm became paralysed and it does not work. Just to console the terror stricken Waseem, the family carried on with his education and presently he is studying in the 8th standard in the Space Age school. After this horrible incident another awful calamity struck the family when my aunt, Haneefa was hit by a bullet in her leg during night time in the year 2004. She was sleeping in the room on the first floor of her house; meanwhile an encounter broke out in the village. During the cross firing, bullet came through the window and hit her in the leg and wounded her critically. She was then rushed to the hospital where she was hospitalized for about one month. On 31st January 2006, my uncle Ghulam Rasool who is a Sub-Inspector in the Fire and Emergency Department was arrested and booked under PSA on the charge of sheltering and feeding militants, which was totally baseless. After Tahira’s killing, the Jammu & Kashmir High Court quashed Ghulam Rasool’s detention on the grounds that the charges against him were false. Finally he was released and resumed his service at Fire and Emergency headquarters Srinagar”. 
AFZAL GUROO’S DEATH SENTENCE 

On 13 of December 2001, there was a terrorist attack on the Indian Parliament, which resulted in heavy causalities. Five foreign militants and nine members of security forces guarding parliament got killed. In connection of the attack, four people including a woman were implicated.

On December 14, SAR Geelani, an Arabic lecturer at Zakir Hussain College of Delhi University was arrested from his residence at Mukerjee Nagar, New Delhi. On December 15, two cousins Showkat Guroo and Afzal Guroo, were arrested near Fruit Mandi, Srinagar when they were returning from Delhi in a truck bearing registration No. G 8 E/6733.  In a special plane they were taken to Delhi. Delhi police presented them before the media and claimed that both of them were conspirators behind the parliament attack. Chargesheet was filed after 3 months of their arrest by the Delhi police before the Special POTA Judge S.N. Dhinge. 

 
An All India Defence Committee for protection of SAR Geelani was formed by some prominent human rights activists including Nandita Haksar, N.D. Pancholi, writer Arundhati Roy, documentary maker Sanjay Kak. The chargesheet was filed on May 14, 2002. N.D. Pancholi was the first to appear on behalf of Afzal. After sometime Seema Gulathi, a terrorist law specialist was appointed as amicus curiae by the trial court. But after 45 days Afzal lost the services of Gulathi, as she had been engaged for a fee by another accused. Afzal was represented by the junior of Seema Gulathi namely, Neeraj Bhansal who was inexperienced and was not regular in attending the cases. Expressing his dissatisfaction over the performance of the counsel, Afzal requested the court that some other lawyer would be engaged to defend him. He gave the names of 3 lawyers to the court, which was fervently rejected. Afzal himself defended his case, he cross-examined some prosecution witnesses in the court; however, he stated to his relatives that it is a futile exercise. 

 
Nearly 80 witnesses deposed before court and there were 8 defence witnesses. In the trial court Nitya Rama Krishnan appeared on behalf of the Afsan Guroo wife of Showkat. Showkat Guroo was represented by K.G. Kannibaran, the President of the People’s Union for Civil Liberty (PUCL). The trial continued for one year and the trial court in its verdict awarded death penalty to the 3 accused Afzal, Showkat and Geelani and five years imprisonment to Afsan Guroo for her abetment to the crime. Cross appeals were filed before the Delhi High Court. In the High Court, Afzal was represented by human rights lawyer Colin Gonsalves, Showkat by Shati Bushan, a prominent lawyer, Afsan by Nitiya and SAR Geelani by Ram Jathmalani, a politician-cum-lawyer who was approached by Democratic Freedom Party chief Shabir Shah. The trial proceeded for one year and the judgment was passed in December 2003, which upheld the death sentence of Afzal and Showkat but acquitted SAR Geeelani and Afsan. Again the appeals were filed by the accused before the Supreme Court of India. 


A controversy triggered regarding lawyer Colin Gonsalves who was accused of accepting the guilt of Afzal and pleading for giving lethal injection to his client. Colin while refuting the allegation said, nowhere in his 250 pages written statement there is a word lethal injection. Instead Colin Gonsalves accused Nandita Haksar who appeared before the media and made the statement against him.   

 
The relatives of Afzal Guroo approached some lawyers like Murlidharan, Sidhart Luthra to represent Afzal but they expressed their engagement in other cases and finally Sushil Kumar appeared on behalf of Afzal Guroo. Geelani was represented by Ram Jathmalani and Showkat by Shanti Bushan. The Supreme Court finally upheld the death penalty of Afzal Guroo and the sentence of Showkat was reduced to 10 years rigorous imprisonment from the death penalty and following this the review petition was filed which was dismissed by the Supreme Court. 

 
A Delhi Court on 26 September in its verdict sentenced Afzal, to death penalty, and set October 20, 2006 for his execution. 

 
A warrant in this regard was issued by Additional Sessions Judge Ravinder Kaur saying the death sentence of Afzal will be executed at 0600 hours in Tihar Central Jail on October 20.

 
Afzal's death sentence by the trial court was confirmed by the Delhi High Court and the Supreme Court. The Apex Court had on August 4, 2005, upheld the death penalty imposed on him by the trial court. Out of the four accused in the case, Showkat Guroo was sentenced to 10 years rigorous imprisonment. 

 
Two other accused SAR Geelani, and lone woman accused Navjot Sandhu alias Afsan Guru, wife of Showkat, were acquitted.


Afzal’s death penalty was vehemently condemned and the trial was questioned by civil society actors, human rights activists and the politicians (separatists as well as mainstream). People in Kashmir thronged to streets in valley to protest against the sentence and went on hartals (strikes) and demanded that the sentence should be commuted. 
ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCE

Mohammad. Yousuf Malik (42) son of Mohammad Akbar Malik resident of Kollar Bijbehara Anantnag disappeared in custody 10 years back. 


Riyaz Ahmad, son in law of Mohammad Yousuf while speaking to The Informative Missive said, “Yousuf was a clerk in the department of revenue and was posted at the Sallura, Pahalgam. At around 2 am, the troops of 9 Para commandos barged into the house and picked up Yousuf. After taking him, the troops detained all the inmates inside the house and bolted the doors of the house. Somehow, Hajira, wife of Yousuf dived from a window and followed the commandos and pleaded for his release. The commandos caught her up and tied her hands on the backside and put a patch on her mouth and set her free. She fell unconscious. Next day in the morning, we went to Srigufwara camp of 9-para commandos and also visited the Police Station Pahalgam and filed a report. Yousuf was arrested by a Major who was renowned as Aslam Khan in the area as there were alphabets AK inscribed on his hand. Some people were saying that Major’s real name is Ashok Kumar. But the time we visited the camp Major Aslam Khan was not in the camp. Then we met another Major and told him that soldiers of your camp arrested one of our family members during the night, where is he? He replied that they did not arrest any person and denied Yousuf’s detention in the camp. We persistently visited camp for three days, as we were sure that the arrest was perpetrated by the soldiers of the camp. Constantly, we pleaded for the release Yousuf, but every time the troops were denying the arrest”. 

“On the third day of the arrest in the morning, Yousuf was seen in the house of Abdul Rashid Teli, resident of Videy Srigufwara. He had entered his house at around 7 am in the morning and had asked them to provide tea. Abdul Rashid was Yousuf’s friend and that is why he entered his house. Rashid and his family were well aware of his arrest; they got surprised about his presence in the morning. Abdul Rashid told Yousuf ‘how are you here and when you got released?’ Yousuf replied that he was released few hours back. As soon as he had taken a cup of tea and was asking for the second cup the army cordoned the house and the troops went inside and arrested him again. The troops had put the pheran (traditional dress) above his head and started to thrash him at the very spot. He was again arrested by the same commandos. When we got this information from one of our relatives we rushed to Abdul Rashid’s house and asked him about Yousuf. He narrated the whole story of Yousuf being arrested again. We again visited the army camp and pleaded them to divulge the whereabouts of Yousuf, but they denied again”, told Riyaz. 


Riyaz further adds, “We again approached to the police station and told them about Yousuf’s re-arrest at Srigufwara. Police called army camp about the arrest of Yousuf but the army denied again. Police registered a case regarding the arrest. Since, the case was filed nothing divulged out. We tried our best for years to ascertain his whereabouts but found nothing. After the two years of Mohammad Yousuf’s disappearance, the camp was shifted to some other place and then CRPF occupied that place. He was innocent as he was never associated to any militant or criminal activity. We don’t know why the troops arrested Yousuf and made him to disappear. We met many government high ups and sought their help for ascertaining the whereabouts of Yousuf. We got a little hope when District Commissioner told that if Abdul Rashid becomes a witness in the arrest of Yousuf I would visit the army camp and necessary action would be taken. When we approached Rashid, he refused to become a witness to Yousuf’ arrest and disappearance. He argued that he would also be killed by the Major if he confronts them. Due to our ill fate and the fear of the army no body could become the witness in arrest of Yousuf”. 


Lastly, the family approached the State Human Rights Commission and filed a petition there.  Yousuf has two daughters - Rifat and Zahida. Rifat is married to Riyaz and Zahida is studying in the 12th class. Riyaz lives with the distressed family. Hajira, Yousuf’s wife is always in search of her missing husband. 

YOUTHS LANGUISHING UNLAWFULLY IN JAIL

On September 23 2006, a delegation form Surankote approached the office of Public Commission on Human Rights (PCHR) to express their grievances and the atrocities they were subjected to by the state police under the garb of ongoing militancy. 

While talking to The Informative Missive, Qazi Maqbool Hussain, father-in-law of Javaid Iqbal, 16, stated “Javaid and his son Basharat Hussain, 30, resident of Ward No. 1 Rajouri have been implicated in false and frivolous cases by one Inspector working in the Joint Interrogation Centre (JIC) Jammu”. 

Qazi said, “3-4 months back, a theft took place at the house of one Inspector Mohammad Amin Mirza who resides in the neighbourhood of my son-in-law Javaid. Inspector Mirza visited one peer (saint) to know from his divine revelation about the theft. The saint pointed towards my daughter’s house. Trusting the saint, Inspector Mirza arrested my daughter and son-in-law on charges of theft. The couple was taken to Rajouri police station where they were tortured. The arrest of the couple triggered anger in the entire neighbourhood. The neighbourers intervened on their behalf and insisted that the couple took an oath at Shadra Sharief (a revered shrine at Rajouri), which was not accepted by Mirza. On his refusal the Imam (the head priest) of the area declared social boycott against Inspector’s family. Under social pressure, the couple was released. However, Mirza vowed to take revenge. Shortly, he impounded 8 SIM cards from my relatives to which he added a SIM card of a surrendered militant who worked for the police for sometime and later fled on fear of being killed by the police and rejoined the militancy.  Taking undue advantage of his position, the Inspector JIC – Jammu Mirza prevailed upon the Station House Officer (SHO) and Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) Rajouri and filed a false complaint. After filing the false case, Mirza got Javaid arrested at TCP, Nowshera while he was coming from Jammu on 26–6–2006. Though he was thoroughly searched by the SHO but nothing unlawful was found from his possessing. SHO, Nowshera was instructed by the DSP Rajouri to send him back to Jammu where he was produced before the SSP. On his instruction he was released after furnishing the personal bond, but was instructed to come again on next day morning.Next day, he was arrested and for few days he was detained in Rajouri police station where he was tortured and finally booked under FIR No. 247/2006 under section 120 B/RPC 121 A and other offences. He was sent to JIC Jammu where the Inspector and the DSP tortured him. The police also involved my son Basharat Hussain and I was told to produce him before the police. I was informed by the SHO, Rajouri that the matter is serious and my son is wanted in investigation by the JIC – Jammu. The concerned SHO finally demanded Rs. 1 lac (1 hundred thousand) from me and promised if the said amount is paid to them the matter will be hushed up. I expressed my inability to collect the huge amount within 2 days and finally after selling out the ornaments and some valuables I managed only Rs. 80,000 and handed over to one Mato Khan, an Assistant Sub-Inspector (ASI) on the instructions of the SHO. I promised to pay the rest of the money later. On 26-7-2006, I took my son to the SHO Rajouri, who promised that after 3-4 days, he would be released after completing some formalities but even after 19 days elapsed, he was not released. The SHO then informed that some formalities are yet to be completed in Jammu. Instead mentioning the accurate date of my son’s arrest police entered false date 7-8-2006, as a date of arrest of my son. He keeps asking for rest of the money. On 8-8-2006, he was sent to Jammu where he was subjected to torture. The heavy roller was rolled over him with the result his veins got damaged and he was incapacitated. On 19-08-2006, he was sent back to Rajouri in a critical condition. Seeing his condition, it was advised that he should be medically examined for which the SHO was approached, who refused to co-operate in this matter. I rushed to Jammu and from the court got order for the medical check up”.   

“My daughter also met the SSP Farooq Khan for mercy but she was threatened that both father and son will be implicated in other cases. I have a video recording evidence of giving money to the police officials and have already approached the Accountability Commission Jammu to take action against the SHO Rajouri, Inspector Amin and Farooq Khan, SSP-Jammu”, Qazi told.


The duo is still languishing in Kot Bhalwal, Jail, Jammu. 

MISSING ARRESTED AFTER FOUR YEARS

On September 6, 2002, Mushtaq Ahmad Qureshi, 16, son of Haji Muhammad Qureshi, mysteriously disappeared after leaving for school from his home in Khanyal Kote, Thanamandi, Rajouri. At that time, he was a student of the 9th class at the Government Higher Secondary School, Thanamandi. 

Muhammad Akram, the elder brother of Mushtaq recalls, “When my brother did not return home in the evening we became anxious and went out to search for him. We met some of his classmates and asked them about Mushtaq.  They replied that he was present at school the entire day, and they didn’t know anything more. Then we inquired from our relatives whether he had visited them. We searched for him for two days but nothing was revealed. On the third day we rushed to the Police Station Thanamandi and filed a report FIR number 10/04 about the disappearance of my brother and requesting that they attempt to ascertain his whereabouts. But the police could not ascertain anything about Mushtaq Ahmed. We moved from pillar to post and tried our level best to determine his location, but till date he has not returned back.  The family concluded that Mushtaq must have attempted to cross Line of Control and enter Pakistan”.  

Four years later, word of Mushtaq’s return and his subsequent arrest by the army on 14th July 2006 in Saien Mohalla, Doda reached his family.  News of his arrest was aired on various media channels as well, but the circumstances of his detainment were controversial.  The daily Kashmir Times, one of the leading newspapers of J&K carried a story on 15th July  alleging that the “Special Task Force of Police has nabbed one Ghulam Rasool, 27, resident of Pakistan who is a ‘Tehsil Commander’ of LeT (Lashker-e-Toiba)”.The fact is that he was Mushtaq Ahmad not Ghulam Rasool.  Official accounts linked the alleged Ghulam Rasool with the killing of innocent civilians belonging to the Hindu minority in Kulhand, Doda.    

Muhammad Akram recounted, “We came to know of Mushtaq’s arrest from the daily Gujjar Bulletin broadcasted at 5:00pm by Radio Kashmir. On hearing the news we reached Doda and approached authorities at the police station. We asked them about the arrest of my brother, but they denied the presence of Mushtaq Ahmad in their custody”.  

Noor-Aalam, cousin of the arrested, asserted, “We accessed some reliable sources and ascertained that Mushtaq Ahmad claimed to be as Ghulam Rasool from Pakistan is in detention at the JIC (SOG Quarters). We met the SP (Superintendent Police) operations of the SOG once again and requested that he divulge Mushtaq’s whereabouts. SP repeated that no person named Mushtaq Ahmad has been arrested.  We then met the brother-in-law of our concerned MLA, Javaid Ahmad, and sought his help in determining the location of Mushtaq. Javaid then contacted SSP Doda and confirmed that Mushtaq has in fact been arrested and is in police custody”.  

Noor-Aalam added that they learned from reliable sources that no ammunition had been recovered from Mushtaq’s possession. 

Mohammad Akram filed a petition in the High Court on behalf of his family, in order to meet the detained suspect whom he affirms is his brother Mushtaq Ahmed.  Mushtaq’s parents are desperate to see their son again.

NAVY FOUND GUILTY IN WULLAR TRAGEDY

September 9: Accepting the inquiry report in the Wullar lake boat tragedy incident in which 22 school children were killed on May 30, 2006 Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has ordered action against the four guilty Navy officials and Principal of Burning Candle School, Handwara. 

The inquiry officer has blamed four navy officials K S Nehra, officer incharge naval Det (Marcos), Watlab, Krishan Khulvi boat operator, Raj Ram and Ganishanor negligence resulting in the boat tragedy in which 22 kids and staff member of the school were drowned. 

The inquiry officer has further recommended that criminal proceedings may be launched against the four Navy officials and principal of the school for their negligence resulting in the tragedy. It recommended that recognition of the school may be withdrawn forthwith. 

The tragedy triggered massive protests in the Kashmir Valley; particularly in north Kashmir where a youth was killed after troops of Rashtriya Rifles opened fire to disperse demonstrators.

UP LABOURER KILLED, LABELED FOREIGN MILITANT

BANDIPORA (North Kashmir), September 28: Labourers from Uttar Pradesh (UP) and other states working in Bandipora area of Baramulla district allege the soldiers of paramilitary Border Security Forces (BSF) killed one of their colleagues in custody and later labeled him as a foreign militant. 

The labourers alleged that Ishtiyaq Ali son of Ali Muhammad of Mahrajgund, UP was arrested by the troopers of BSF (51 battalion) from Naberpora near Bandipora town. They said he sold snacks on roadside. Their statement was supported by the shopkeepers who “have often seen him selling roasted Channa”. 

 
“They lifted him in front of me in a Gypsy vehicle when he was coming back to work after lunch on September 9, I remember it was Saturday,” said Imran, one of the colleagues of Ishtiyaq, who also hails from UP. 
Imran said, “We thought they are our own people and he will be back but we saw his tortured and bullet-riddled body on Sunday morning in new bus stand and were surprised to see what our own people did and later labeled him as foreign militant.” 

 
“We were told militants are very bad people and they kill innocents,” said another labourer, “but they (troops) are killing the innocent people. Are they killing innocents for ranks or money?” 

 
 According to FIR registered in Police station Bandipora on September 10, the BSF claims that they have killed a foreign militant and recovered a pistol from him. 

 
A spokesman of BSF told, “He (Ishtiyaq) was asked to stop by our troopers but he fired at them with a pistol. In retaliatory firefight he was killed. He was a foreign militant.” 

CRPF KILLS YOUTH 

SRINAGAR, September 28: A village level worker was killed and two cops injured when paramilitary CRPF troopers opened fire on a Maruti car in south Kashmir’s Islamabad (Anantnag) district. 

 
Police said the CRPF personnel (156 battalion) signaled a Maruti car to stop near Sarbal, Pahalgam in south Kashmir. However its driver, according to police, evaded the signal and went ahead. “Soldiers informed the next post. CRPF personnel again signaled a car to stop at Younand, Aishmuqam, but the driver again ignored the signal, which prompted soldiers to open fire,” said a police spokesman in a statement. 

 
He said three persons, including two police constables, were injured in the shootout. One of the injured, Showkat Ahmed son of Mohammad Sultan, a village level worker of Khiram, Bijbehara succumbed to his injuries. 

 
“Occupants were drunk and the two police constables Fayaz Ahmed Ganie presently posted in Crime Branch Srinagar and Abdur Rashid Dar working in 9th battalion IRP were detained. Dar is presently under suspension,” the spokesman added. 

TROOPS KILL CARPENTER 

September 20: Thousands of people held violent protests on September 20, against Rashtriya Rifles (RR) troops, accusing them of using a poor carpenter as a human shield and then killing him in an operation against militants. 

On September 19, Mohammad Ashraf Khan 38, father of three children was taken away by soldiers of 14 RR, the protesters alleged. His body was handed over to his family on September 20, morning along with a militant body. Army says Ashraf was a militant who died in a firefight with the troops. 

Ashraf family members said he left home at 9 am (Tuesday) for his field. At 1 pm the soldiers appeared at the fields and took him along to forests, they said. “He will be back after guiding us to the forests, the troops, his family said, told them. But they returned his dead body, cried Ashraf’s wife. Who will feed my three children? Why did they kill him?

I saw the troops taking him along, but I kept hiding myself because they often take us along when they move to the forests. I visited Ashraf’s family in the evening when I came to know about a gunfight in the forest. I didn’t tell them I had seen him while being taken along by the troops, but they had come to know about it, someone else had told them, a close neighbor of Ashraf told.

He said he didn’t want to be named; otherwise I would be done to death.

Chanting slogans like “Down with state government” and “Down with Army, thousands of people took to streets at Chuntimulla, nine kilometers from Bandipora town, when the body of Ashraf was handed over to his family by police. 

Commenting on the killing of Ashraf, an Army spokesman said that in an encounter army killed two terrorists namely Muhammad Yusuf alias Altaf resident of Kodura and Muhammad Ashraf Khan son of Sonaullah Khan, resident of Chuntimul. Two AK-47 weapons, 4 hand grenades and a radio set were recovered from the slain terrorists.

JUDGE ISSUES NOTICES ON KILLING OF BOYS BY ARMY
SRINAGAR, September 28: On September 22, the Jammu and Kashmir government ordered an inquiry into the killing of four teenaged boys by troops at Doodipora and appointed District and Sessions Judge Tariq Naqshbandi as the inquiry officer to probe the causes and circumstances that led to the firing by troops who mistook the four boys as militants and killed them. The incident had sparked off massive protests and violence in the valley. 

The Army later admitted and regretted the incident and also offered compensation to the families of the victims. 


 

SOG MAN BEATS CIVILIAN

September 12: A resident of Wusan, Ganderbal Alam Rasool was caught and severely thrashed by a Special Operations Group (SOG) person Shafi Khunza on main road and allegedly attempted to kill him by pointing pistol at Rasool on the main road and this was done under broad-day light. On watching Rasool being beaten mercilessly, nephew of Rasool intervened to save his uncle and he too was tortured. Rasool and his nephew escaped and returned to their house where Khunza accompanied by two civilian accomplices Nisar Ahmad Dar and Billu Shiekh caught them and carried merciless thrashing and when nephew's mother joined in to save the duo she too was beaten. Seeing this the residents got agitated and intervened to save Rasool's life. Later they staged protest against SOG's Head Constable Khunza. 

The residents allege that Khunza and accomplice have been involved in extortion and Khunza has made life miserable for Wusan residents. 

When the residents of the village went to register a case at Ganderbal police station against the SOG man, police reportedly refused to register the case.

DARHAL GOVERNMENT OFFICES UNDER OLIVE SIEGE

DARHAL, September 29: Darhal tehsil of Rajouri district is unique in entire Jammu and Kashmir. Army occupies almost all the government offices here. So where do the officials go? They work in the respective offices at the district headquarters. The local residents said the soldiers occupied these buildings at different times in the past 17 years. Two years back, barring a hospital building, all the offices had soldiers in them. 

 
The offices of Block Development Officer, Departments of Agriculture, Horticulture, the Tehsil Veterinary Centre, Patwarkhana of the Revenue Department and the Rest House of Public Works Department have been completely occupied by Army. 


An Army signboard inside the premises of the district hospital says, “Out-of-bound area.” Army occupied an Ancillary Medical Training School and another building being constructed at the cost of nearly Rs 2 crores before it could be handed over to the health authorities. Solar batteries of a solar power plant installed by Army have been kept in the storeroom of the hospital. Intravenous dextrose bottles and bundles of bandage could be seen placed on the solar plant machinery. 

Army vacated the tehsildar’s residential quarters, a single storey stone building enclosed by a stone wall, last year. This year office of the tehsildar, who is the topmost civilian officer, was vacated, the local residents said. Besides these two buildings, the main building of the sub-district hospital Darhal has been spared. The rest are under Army’s occupation. 

Scores of militancy-related incidents have been reported from Darhal region for the past several years. There is heavy presence of troops in the town. Soldiers jut out their heads and barrels of guns from small openings in brick bunkers that have been built on some residential houses. 

 
The Finance and Treasuries Department has hired a private building for its Sub-Treasury office in Darhal, which was announced for the region recently. In Rajouri town personnel of Indian Reserve Police occupy the government higher secondary school. 

Occupation of the government offices has caused hardships for the local residents. For official matters they have to travel 26 kilometers to Rajouri town. 

 
“It is hell of a travel. That also depends upon availability of transport. Often the officials are absent in district offices and we have to return empty handed,” said Muhammad Din of Darhal. In case of the hospital building, the local residents said that Army’s occupation of the building is a good excuse for the employees who don’t come to work regularly. There are some offices that operate from the rented private buildings in Darhal town. 

 
The Block Medical Officer of Darhal, Dr Mumtaz Bhatti said that Army would “vacate the hospital very soon.” 
Parvez Malik, the Deputy Commissioner of Rajouri district said for security reasons and counter-militancy operations the state police is assisted by a full battalion of Army’s 48 Rashtriya Rifles, in Darhal area alone and “the state government is bound to accommodate them.” 

 
Malik said the Senior Superintendent of Police regularly updates the government about the security demands and “he doesn’t feel the situation has improved to the extent that Army would be shifted from the place.” 

The Deputy Commissioner said he assured a deputation of Darhal residents who were demanding shifting of soldiers from government offices that in future “Army won’t be placed in government offices.” He said the district administration is gradually reclaiming the buildings.

PROTEST AGAINST TROOPS 

September 2: Reports said that a civilian was injured in the cross firing between the security personnel and the militants at Kasblari in Mendhar tehsil of district Poonch last night.

The injured has been identified as Mohammad Zahir Abbas, son of Wali Mohammad of Kasblari. 

The villagers staged protest in the morning alleging that the troops have opened indiscriminate firing and there were no militants present in the village. They maintained that Zahir was injured in the army firing. The protestors blocked the road at Uchhad, Kasblari.

Official reports said that based on specific information of presence of two to three militants in Kasblari area, troops of 31 Rashtriya Rifles launched a search operation last night. The militants, official reports said, fired upon the troops, and the fire was effectively retaliated. In the exchange of fire, a civilian sustained bullet wound. He was shifted to the SDH Mendhar for treatment.

COUPLE SHOT DEAD 

September 10: Police said that unidentified gunmen barged into the house of one Jamal-ud-Din, 50, at Thandi Dhok in Rajouri district on 10 September evening and resorted to indiscriminate firing killing him and his wife Gudu Begum on spot. 

6 LENSMEN BEATEN TO PULP
SRINAGAR, September 29: Six photojournalists were injured, two seriously, when soldiers of paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) beat them up during pro-Afzal Guru protests in downtown Srinagar on Friday. 

 
Eyewitnesses said while covering clashes between angry youth and CRPF soldiers at Nowhatta Chowk shortly after the Friday prayers at historic Jamia Masjid, Sajjad Hussain, who works for Greater Kashmir and AFP, spotted a non-Kashmiri man who carried a video camera but pelted stones on houses and vehicles. 

 
“When Sajjad asked the man to disclose his identity, he turned around and shouted at Sajjad, describing the Kashmiri photojournalists as Pakistani agents,” said a spokesman of the Kashmir Press Photographers Association (KPPA). 

In the meantime, the KPPA spokesman said the CRPF personnel pounced on Sajjad and ‘savagely’ beat him up. “The cameraman was a CRPF man in civvies,” he said. 

 
After thrashing Sajjad, who received seven stitches at SKIMS Soura, the CRPF personnel chased away other photojournalists, hurling stones on them. 

 
This prompted strong protests from the photojournalists who put down their cameras in protest. They gathered at Nowhatta Chowk and shouted slogans against the CRPF personnel, accusing them of hampering with their professional duty. 

  
Inspector General of CRPF, Anand Prakash Maheshwari regretted action of his men. “We have placed under suspension the erring constable Ram Nivas and departmental action has been initiated against him,” Maheshwari told. 

 


A MOTHER’S PLEA
SRINAGAR, September 7: Mehmooda Begam, wife of Mohammed Yasin Shah has no clue as to why her son, Rafiq Ahmad Shah continues to be in detention since she is sure that Rafiq has not done anything which could have landed him in Tihar jail. "I humbly appeal the authorities to intervene in the matter and get my innocent son released", she says.

Narrating the account of her son's arrest she recalls, "Last year police came to our house during night at around 2:45 am and knocked our door. I was awakened by the very first knock and went up to the door and opened it up. As soon as I opened the door, the police party started beating me and inquired about the rest of the family members and my son Rafiq. When I started crying, Rafiq Ahmad and his father Mohammed Yasin woke up and they wanted to know what was happening. But the police party swooped on them and started beating them ruthlessly. My daughters were also beaten up and ultimately they took my son Rafiq Ahmad along with them".

"We requested them many times that our son is innocent and that he is a university student pursuing his masters in Islamic Studies, but they didn't give a damn to our pleas. Our son also told them he regularly attends his classes in the Islamic Studies department of Kashmir university and told that they can confirm it from the university authorities, but they did not listen and took him along while beating him up", said Mehmooda and added that the university students observed a three-day strike in the university against his arrest and took out protest demonstrations during all the three days.

She said that she and her husband went to the local police station after the arrest of Rafiq and lodged an FIR there and in the meanwhile started searching Rafiq in various interrogation centres in valley and outside, but of no avail. "After two and half months we finally came to know that Rafiq has been taken to Tihar jail and he has been charged of carrying out bomb blasts in Delhi on October 21 last year", she said.

Mehmooda however refuted the police accusation arguing her son was right at home during those days and he was going to university as usual. "Then we went to the university and brought the proof of his attendance. The Head department gave us the proof of his attendance. So what is the crime of my son", said Mehmooda. "Who could plead our case; we have neither the resources nor somebody who could plead the case of our innocent son", she maintains.

VILLAGERS FORCED TO CUT TREES FOR ARMY

September 6: Rashtriya Rifles soldiers and a notorious government gunman working for them for past one year order eight men each from three remote villages of Baramulla district to come to their camp in the morning. Then they are dispatched to forests where they are asked to cut trees of expensive Deodar. And then haul the timber to the camp. For the backbreaking work they are paid nothing. The government gunman supervises the whole operation, according to the villagers of Chatoosa, Dooniwari and Pazalpora villages. 

The villagers said they have been silent so far because they fear soldiers would implicate them in false cases. It is enough now, said a villager, wishing anonymity. 

The villagers said the gunman Riyaz Ahmad Lone working for 32 RR comes to each village in turns and tells them to send eight villagers to the local RR camp at Chatoosa. Riyaz Lone is always accompanied by soldiers of Territorial Army. 
If we don’t go to the camp, we have to face wrath instantly. No matter how occupied you are, you have to be there, said a villager, the father of three kids. 

At 8.30 am we have to be there, he said, and from the camp Riyaz Lone and soldiers of Territorial Army in civvies come along with us to the forests and for whole day we are asked to cut trees and then saw the timber into small beams for windowpanes, beds and boxes. They even specify the size of the cut. Then we have to hail the timber to the camp. 
When asked to comment, an Army spokesman said, the allegations are not quite true. I have asked the concerned army authorities to check the matter at an earliest and this will not be allowed.

The forced labour and cutting of forests has been going on for the past one-year. Almost all the men in these villages have axed trees for Army, the villagers alleged, adding that only government employees are exempted from the forced labour. 
 
The villagers said police has been doing this all along. They recovered a truck of timber and also arrested Riyaz Lone, the government gunman, but he was set free. Only the driver was booked and the truck is still in police custody. 

Police sources said Kralgund Police in Badrapayeen village of Handwara seized the truck filled with timber in June this year when the government gunman was taking it to a sawmill. 

A middle-rung police official on the basis of anonymity said, higher officers told us not to book the government gunman. The driver is quite innocent as he was forced to load the timber.

The police official alleged that Army officials took the timber to their homes in their own vehicles. 

Senior Superintendent of Police Barmulla Vipluv Kumar told; let the people come to me. Why should this happen, police is meant to see all this. People must come forward.

GUJJARS, BAKERWALS PROTEST 

September 2: The Gujjar and Bakerwal people demonstrated against the alleged atrocities by army in mountainous regions of Kupwara district. 

What army is doing to us and what we have been tolerating, God only knows, said Allaudin, a protester. 
 
The protesters had come from many remote areas of Kupwara district and assembled at Kupwara Townhall. They shouted slogans against army and the state government. 

A white-bearded Gujjar protester abused media and said, do you know how many Gujjars and Bakerwalls were taken by troops and latter disappeared, killed in custody and how many women were raped. 

Citing a case of murder of a labourer in 2004 in Karnah, he said, the murder of labourer was published by just one English newspaper but there are many such murders.

The protesters alleged army was interrupting their grazing and using young men as shields during search operations in dense forests. 

RASHTRIYA RIFLES OCCUPIES HEALTH CENTRE 

September 10: A new type (NT) Primary Health Centre catering to a population of more than 30,000 people in 20 villages of Mavar, Handwara in Kupwara district has been under the occupation of army since 1990. Normally the patients who should be getting treatment at the centre are stopped there for body searches before they proceed to other areas for treatment, as the PHC also serves as the check post for vehicles. 

30 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) battalion of army has occupied the NT-PHC located in Qalamabad village since 1990. The NT-PHC comprising two blocks, one with six rooms and other with three rooms, was constructed just one year before army occupied it. 

Presently a doctor and other paramedical staff work in three rooms of the six-room block in very risky conditions. The NT-PHC normally provides immunization and childcare facilities, ambulance service, maternity, gynae (with delivery facilities) minor surgical procedures, laboratory facilities and other services. 

Its occupation has curtailed most of these, the residents and official sources said. The PHC caters to Qalamabad, Lachi, Herral, Senzipora, Lavoosa and several other villages of Mavar area. Curtailment of healthcare facilities apart, the villagers said, the RR camp located in the PHC stop vehicles near it for searches. All the vehicles coming from Nowgam sector and from Handwara are checked in front of the PHC. 

After many efforts, government heeded to our requests and constructed the PHC but now it is a source of harassment for every passenger, said Abdul Ahad of Lachi village. 

A man of Heral village who wished anonymity said, on December 2004 my wife developed labour pain and our Sumo taxi was stopped by RR troops for one hour in front of the PHC. This is the place where she should have been treated and delivered the baby. She was crying with pain for that hour.

He said, after that painful encounter I met District Magistrate Kupwara and he assured me proper action but the centre (PHC) hospital has not been vacated.

Villagers are loath to enter the PHC for they have to pass through elaborate security checks. 

It is better to go Handwara because how can we tolerate that soldiers at the entrance of the hospital gate that is the main gate for RR camp too would check our women, said a villager of Mavar. 

The X-ray machine and equipment in the diagnostic laboratory are rusting in one of the rooms of the occupied blocks, said a senior official of Chief Medical Office Kupwara. 

He added that staff for hospital is sufficient. We have a doctor and other paramedical staff but they cannot stay overnight. Then there is huge security risk, they are working in a camp, he said. 

An employee of the hospital, wishing anonymity said, if there is a Fidayeen attack, who would get killed.

They residents of these villages said they have met Deputy Commissioner (DC) of Kupwara, Divisional Commissioner, requesting them to prevail upon army and get the PHC vacated. 

The DC Kupwara Abdul Majid Khanday told that RR has vacated the PHC building, but at times they occupy it. RR does not permanently occupy it.

GUNMEN TERRORIZE KUPWARA FAMILY

September 9: On Friday night, when the Valley was busy in Shab-e-Barat prayers, a group of gunmen allegedly working for security agencies struck at a house in a remote village of Kupwara district and terrorized the inmates, demanding money at gunpoint. 

According to reports, the gunmen barged into the house of Abdus Samad Tantray son of Ghulam Mohammad at village Palpora in Magam area of Handwara. They harassed the family members, demanding Rupees eight lacs from them. 

However, Tantray managed to come out of his house and raised an alarm, catching the attention of his neighbours who were busy in prayers. The villagers rushed there forcing the gunmen to flee from the spot. 

Reports said the villagers vainly tried to chase the gunmen who vanished taking advantage of darkness. 

Superintendent of Police, Handwara, Haseeb Mughal said, no one has seen the weapon the men were carrying. We are investigating. Army too has assured help.

COPS BEAT IMAM, SNATCH CASH

September 6: Personnel of Special Operation Group (SOG) of Jammu and Kashmir Police abducted an Imam (one who leads prayers) and snatched cash from him before beating him ruthlessly in Handwara area of north Kashmir Kupwara district. 

According to the reports, three SOG men abducted Muhammad Qamriya Alim of Bihar at gunpoint from Handwara market on September 5, evening, bundled him into a vehicle (JK09/5777) and took him to Qalamabad area. 

The cops identified as, Shabir Ahmed, Altaf Ahmed and Muhammad Hanief ruthlessly beat the imam and snatched a cash of more than Rs. 4000 from him. On pleading that the money belonged to a local Dar-ul-Uloom, the cops kept Rs. 1250 and returned the rest to him.

Police has filed a report and launched a manhunt to nab the accused cops. 

YOUTH’S ARREST SPARKS PROTEST

September 24: The arrest of a youth by soldiers of Rashtriya Rifles triggered massive demonstrations in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district on Sunday. 

Reports said soldiers of 29 RR launched a cordon-and-search operation at Pakipora village of Pattan during which it arrested Aijaz Ahmad Rather son of Abdur Rehman. 
After the operation was over, hundreds of people blocked Baramulla-Srinagar highway, demanding release of Aijaz.

 
Meanwhile, soldiers of 42 RR arrested Muhammad Amin Thokur son of Muhammad Abdullah at Bijbehara in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district.

NOTORIOUS STF STILL ALIVE

SOPORE, September 19: Bashir Ahmad Sheikh, 65, owns a grocery store in New Colony Sopore. But for last four days, he hasn’t opened the shop; instead, he visits office of the Deputy Commissioner and the Senior Superintendent of Police.

He waits outside their offices, pleads their subordinates that he should be allowed in, and then rushes back to home. He is not insane. He is looking for his son Basharat Ahmad, who was allegedly taken by the personnel of infamous Special Task Force (STF) of police officially STF stands disbanded nearly three years ago. 

Six armed STF men who were in civvies, according to the aged father, kidnapped his son on Friday morning. He was bundled in a Sumo vehicle and taken to Sangrama, he said, adding that he met the driver of the vehicle Shabir Ahmad and other people who were witness to the incident. 

“They confirmed it were six STF men headed by a Sub-Inspector, who picked up Basharat. I have been moving from pillar to post to know whereabouts of my son, but to no avail. I have every right to know why he has been taken away. Why don’t they inform me about his whereabouts?”

Bashir said he met both the Deputy Commissioner and the SSP Baramulla. The SSP, he says, confirmed that STF has taken his son. When I went to STF people, they simply deny the arrest, Bashir rued. 

His is not an isolated case. 

Ghulam Qadir Shohsa, 56, alleges that his son Firdous Ahmad Shohsa, a cart-puller, was taken away by the STF on Tuesday morning. However, he said, when he went to the STF camp to seek his whereabouts, they refused to acknowledge his arrest. 

Exasperated by the approach of the police and civil officials, Bashir said he has no alternative except self-immolation. I will go for self-immolation if they will not disclose whereabouts of my son, he threatened. 

The Sopurians say STF men in civvies take local youth into custody and later they blame unidentified gunmen. 
 
Who else will dare to kidnap a youth and bundle him in a Gypsy, and then the Gypsy driver drops them at Sangrama, asked Bashir, none other than STF, he added. 

 
SPO GUNS DOWN 2 COLLEAGUES IN DODA

September 9: A Special Police Officer (SPO) shot dead his two colleagues in Jammu, Doda district and decamped with seven automatic rifles. 

A police spokesman said a surrendered militant, Javed Iqbal son of Shamas-ud-Din of Chanyas, posted as SPO at Chanyas, Gandoh in Doda district shot dead the two SPOs German Singh (belt No.285) and Isher Lal (belt No. 1148) on Friday night. 

Later Iqbal, the police said, decamped with one UMG, 4 SLRs, one AK-riffle, one Insas riffle and huge quantity of arms and ammunition. Iqbal was aided by another SPO Abdul Qayoom (belt No. 3668), said the police. 

Police has launched a manhunt to nab the SPOs. 

Police said that suspected militants barged inside a house of one Fareed Ahmed son of Noor-ud-Din of Checha at Kishtawar and shot him dead. His wife Reshma Bano sustained injuries in the shootout and was hospitalized. 

Unidentified gunmen intruded inside the house of one Mumtaz Ahmed Pathan son of Mohammad Shafi at Pathan Gadole, Kokernag in south Kashmir, Islamabad district and shot him dead. 

Police said two militants, whose identity could not be established, were killed in a fierce gun-battle at Donadi, Rajpora in Pulwama district. 

Unidentified gunmen fired upon a fruit vendor, Farooq Ahmed Guroo, 50, in main market Bandipore on Saturday afternoon. The shootout created panic in the area. Minutes later the gunmen shot at and injured a mechanic identified as Ajaz Ahmed Pandit from a point blank range in the same market. The duo was rushed to Bandipora hospital from where they were referred to Srinagar. 

COPS RAIDED OUR OFFICE: KNS

September 18: Policemen in civvies raided the office of Kashmir News Service (KNS) at Magarmal Bagh locality here on Tuesday, the management of the news agency said. 

The KNS management alleged that five cops in civvies raided its office and ordered the office bearers to assemble in a room. 

The cops thoroughly searched the office and checked identity cards of the staff. They even did now allow them to use mobile phone, it said, adding, the cops apologized while leaving saying, we had wrong information, and boarded a bulletproof Gypsy car.

Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Srinagar Afadul Mujtaba, told that no police team was directed to raid the office, and assured investigation in the case

FATHER, SON KILLED IN BLAST

POONCH, September 21: A blacksmith, his son, and another man died when a scrap artillery shell exploded in his shop in village Hadi Budda of Mandi area of Poonch district on Thursday. Another son of the deceased blacksmith-cum-scrap dealer was critically wounded in the blast. 

 
Witnesses said as soon as Muhammad Aslam son of Kukoo of Hadi Budda village inserted the scrap metal into the furnace in his shop it exploded with a loud bang killing him, his son Muhammad Sharif and a villager Aijaz Ahmad son of Wazir Muhammad. The people started running for safety presuming it to be an IED explosion. 

17-year-old Alif Din son of Muhammad Aslam was admitted to Mandi Hospital for treatment. Doctors said his condition was serious.

Local residents said the scrap dealer had procured some old shells from army and was heating them inside his shop. 

HARASSMENT OF 10-YEAR-OLD GIRL 

SRINAGAR, September 23: Hundreds of people took to streets in Drangbal Pampore in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district on Saturday against paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) troops, accusing them of harassing a 10-year girl and beating up her father when he protested. 

 
Reports said at 12:30 pm when the girl (name withheld) went to a grocery store to make some purchases, she was intercepted by Thanday Ram, a member of CRPF’s Road Opening Party (ROP). 

 
“The trooper (from 141 battalion) tried to lure the girl by offering her some money if she came with him,” the girl said. The shocked girl rushed to her home and related the story to her father.

Aghast, her father (name withheld) approached Thanday Ram. But the CRPF trooper instead of responding to him started thrashing him, which caught the attention of other people who raised strong protests. Local shopkeepers also pulled down their shutters, joined the protesters and blocked the Srinagar-Jammu highway. 

The protesters, who assembled at Kadalbal area of the saffron rich town, pelted stones on the CRPF personnel. 
Superintendent Police, Awantipora, Sardar Khan reached the spot and ordered police to arrest the CRPF trooper. Police later recorded statements of the girl, her father and other eyewitness. The SP assured the protesters of action against the trooper if found guilty. 

 
The SP told that he has given orders to the SHO to take action against the CRPF trooper and register a criminal case against him. 

 
However, a spokesman of the CRPF described the protests and allegations as “conspiracy against the ROP,” and said its motive was to “attack the ROP.” 

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· CROSS BORDER INFILTRATION UP IN JAMMU AND KASHMIR: HOME MINISTRY

September 3: Following are the figures of cross border infiltration give by the Home Ministry ahead of Chief Ministers and Prime Minister’s scheduled conclave at New Delhi.  

	Year 
	Infiltration incidents
	Infiltrators Involved
	Infiltrations Foiled
	Militants killed

	2001
	175
	3545
	60
	224

	2002
	164
	1728
	86
	274

	2003
	138
	1313
	51
	179

	2004
	102
	507
	43
	95

	2005
	32
	231
	49
	181

	2005 (Jan – July) 
	21
	170
	36
	127

	2006 (Jan – July) 
	50
	476
	27
	56


· CM FOR RECRUITMENT OF 50000 JK POLICE PERSONNEL

September 6: Advocating constitution of internal security force under Ministry of Home Affairs for exclusively dealing with insurgency and terrorism in the country, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has said that this would relieve army and paramilitary forces for their assigned duties. He said a separate budget for this type of security forces should be created in the Ministry of Home Affairs to meet the expenses on this count. 

Chief Minister said local police would have to be augmented, trained and equipped by adding to its strength additional 50,000 personnel. This would also deal with increasing unemployment problem in the state. Chief Minister said that 114 border police posts sanctioned with 2000 persons have given high value service, as such, 200 more border police posts are required to be established in the border areas.

· INFILTRATION NOT SENSATIONAL OR WORRRISOME, BUT ON: ARMY

September 9: The Army today said the infiltration level was marginally higher but not ''worrisome or sensational'' this year as compared to the corresponding period in 2005.
''Infiltration is going on. The level this year is marginally higher than last year, but it is not something very sensational. The trend continues,'' General Officer-in-Commanding (GOC) XV Corps Lt Gen S S Dhillon told.
· 19000 MILITANTS KILLED: AZAD

BRUSSELS, September 20: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad while attending a conference attended by diplomats, journalists and European officials in Brussels said, “So far about 19,000 militants have been killed out of which four thousand are foreigners and, except for 200, the rest (of the 4000) are from Pakistan. The other 15,000 who have been killed locally were also trained by Pakistani agencies and militants". 

· INFILTRATION DOWN: INDIAN PRIME MINISTER

NAINITAL, September 23: Prime Minister Manmohan Singh on Saturday said infiltration across the Line of Control (LoC) in Jammu and Kashmir had diminished.  

 
“We see that levels of violence have come down during the past two years. Things have improved substantially since our coalition government came to office”, he said, addressing a conclave of Congress Chief Ministers here. 

NEWS IN BRIEF

· MILITANTS ALLEGEDLY CHOPPED EAR’S 

September 19: Two militants allegedly chopped off ears of 32-year-old Abdul Gani son of Ali Mohd in his house at village Bashi, about 12 kilometers from Kishtwar in Doda last night. He has been admitted in Sub District Hospital of Kishtwar.

· HOME GUARD KILLED 

September 29: A group of heavily armed militants allegedly came to the Dhok (Temporary house) of the Home Guard at Bakerkund in Dessa area of Doda district during the midnight hours. They sprayed volley of bullets from their automatic weapons and killed him on the spot. The deceased has been identified as Mubarak Ali, son of Ghulam Nabi Bhat of Bhatta Dessa.

· SHAWL VENDOR MISSING  

August 24: On August 24, 2006, Mushtaq Ahmad Sheikh of Tral, Pulwama, a shawl vendor is reportedly missing in West Bengal. 

Apprehensive about his welfare, the family of Mushtaq said, Mushtaq along with another youth rented out a room in Nazeem hotel in Darjeeling, Bengal.

Mushtaq, his family said, didn’t return to the hotel after day’s work. The hotel falls under the jurisdiction of police station Siliguri.  

· SHOPKEEPER MISSING

September 8: A shopkeeper from Sopore town district Baramulla is missing mysteriously from 8 September 2006. 


According to reports Mohammad Sidiq son of Ghulam Rasool had left for his shoe store in Handwara, Kupwara. Since then he is missing. 


Reports said that some days ago Sadiq has sent an SMS to his wife that it was his last message.

· SOLDIER KILLS MAJOR

September 14: An army major has been shot dead by a jawan at a forward post in Rajouri sector, a Defence Spokesman told.

 
Major Harsh Kumar was shot dead by Naik Ravi Kumar at an isolated company post in Manjakote area of Rajouri district on the night of September 13, he said, adding that the accused has been taken into custody by the authorities.

· 2 STUDENTS MISSING

SRINAGAR, September 16: According to reports, Showkat Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Nabi, a class 6th student and 8th standard student Abid Ahmad Chopan son of Ghulam Ahmad failed to return from their school and went missing from September 16, 2006. 

· POLICE HARASSES MILITANT’S FAMILY 

September 7: Reports said that police is allegedly harassing the family of a militant who escaped from police custody in south Kashmiri’s Pulwama district on September 7. 


According to reports, police is allegedly torturing the family of the militant, Altaf Ahmad Malik to reveal his whereabouts. The cops of Special Operation Group (SOG), severely thrashed the militant’s brother Fayaz Malik who is mentally challenged, wounding him.

· TROOPS HARASS VILLAGERS
September 11: Residents of Harmain, Shopain in south Kashmir allege harassment at the hand of troops of Rashtriya Rifles (RR). 

Locals said that troops of 62 RR have been carrying out search operations in Hermain Shopain for last month. Soldiers ransacked the houses, youth are being beaten mercilessly, sick and old men are being told to undergo identification parade.


However, the army authorities denied the allegations.  
· GROOM SHOT AT

September 12: Unidentified gunmen shot at and injured a bridegroom in Sopore, Baramulla on Tuesday evening. 
 
The assailants fired upon Javed Ahmed Malik son of Abdul Khaliq Malik when he was about to enter a tent, injuring him.

Gunshots created panic in the area and the guests ran for their lives. The injured bridegroom runs a shoe store. Motive for the shootout was not known.

· GUNMEN THRASHED DRIVER

September 14: Government-sponsored gunmen allegedly beat up a driver ruthlessly in Boniyar area of district Baramulla.


According to reports, the gunmen Mohammad Sidiq stopped a Sumo vehicle and dragged out the driver Irshad Ahmad Sheikh of Turkanag, Uri and beat him severely after he failed to pay them the ransom.


Irshad fell unconscious and was removed to Uri Hospital where from he was referred to Sher-e- Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences (SKIMS) Soura, Srinagar.


His condition was stated to be critical. 

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 

	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	September 01
	2
	-
	2
	

	September 02
	-
	2
	1
	-

	September 03
	3
	2
	-
	-

	September 04
	2
	1
	1
	1 human skeleton recovered 

	September 05
	1
	3
	1
	1 alleged army informer 

	September 06
	-
	2
	-
	-

	September 07
	1
	1
	1
	2 political activists 

	September 08
	-
	-
	1
	1 army informer 

	September 09
	2
	1
	-
	-

	September 10
	1
	4
	1
	-

	September 11
	-
	2
	1
	1 political activist 

	September 12
	-
	-
	2
	-

	September 13
	1
	-
	-
	-

	September 14
	1
	1
	1
	1 (VDC member) 

	September 15
	-
	1
	1
	-

	September 16
	-
	8
	-
	-

	September 17
	2
	1
	-
	2 dead bodies 

	September 18
	1
	-
	1
	-

	September 19
	-
	3
	-
	-

	September 20
	-
	3
	1
	-

	September 21
	-
	9
	3
	-

	September 22
	-
	1
	1
	-

	September 23
	-
	1
	1
	-

	September 24
	1
	5
	1
	-

	September 25
	1
	2
	-
	-

	September 26
	1
	-
	2
	-

	September 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	September 28
	2
	1
	4
	-

	September 29
	-
	2
	1
	-

	September 30
	-
	2
	1
	-

	TOTAL
	22
	59
	29
	9


	DATE
	CUSTODIAL AND EXTRA JUDICIAL KILLINGS
	WOMEN
	CHILDREN
	ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

	September 04
	1 CK
	-
	-
	-

	September 07
	2 EJK
	1
	-
	-

	September 08
	-
	-
	-
	1

	September 11
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	September 12
	-
	1
	-
	-

	September 18
	-
	-
	1
	-

	September 19
	-
	1
	-
	-

	September 16
	-
	-
	-
	2

	September 20
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	September 21
	-
	-
	1
	-

	September 22
	-
	-
	2
	-

	September 28
	I CK
	1
	-
	-

	Total 
	6
	4
	4
	3


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS OF SEPTEMBER 2006

	September 1
	Two Special Police Officers (SPOs) were killed in violence related incidents while two dead bodies were recovered from separate places in the valley. The deceased were identified as, Manzoor Ahmad Parray of Pahlipora, Pulwama a teacher by profession and Nazir Ahmad Sheikh a carpenter of Pattan, Baramulla

	September 2
	Two militants and one civilian were killed in violence related incidents across the state.    

	September 3
	Three army men including one Army Captain and two militants of Al Mansoorain were killed in violence related incidents in the state. 

	September 4
	One militant and two army men including one Captain were killed in violence related incidents while a human skeleton was recovered near LOC in frontier district of Kupwara along with arms. Also the report of the custodial killing of a youth in Bandipora by SOG.   

	September 5
	Three HM militants, one army man and his brother and one counter intelligence worker were killed in separate incidents in the state.

	September 6
	Two LeT militants were killed in violence related incidents in the state.

	September 7
	One militant of Al Badr, and one police constable were killed in violence related incidents while a woman who was shot at on August 2 succumbed to her injuries. Two persons whom BSF claimed were militants died in gun battle with them was disputed by the Muslim League (pro-Pak political organization) that the duo were its activists and killed in fake encounter by BSF.

	September 8
	One civilian and an army informer were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

	September 9
	Two SPOs were killed and one HM militant were killed in separate incidents of violence.

	September 10
	One SPO and four militants including two LeT militants, one HM militant were killed in separate incidents of violence while a fruit vendor injured in Bandipora shootout on September 9 succumbed to his injuries.

	September 11
	Two unidentified militants and an activist of People’s Democratic Party (PDP) were killed in violence related incidents while residents of Bandipora alleged that a Bihari labourer was killed in fake encounter whom police claimed was a foreign militant.

	September 12:
	Couple killed by unknown gunmen in violence related incidents while unknown gunmen shot at a bridegroom.

	September 13:
	One army soldier was killed in violence related incidents in the state.

	September 14:
	LeT militant, one SPO and one Village defence Committee Member (VDC) were killed in violence related incidents while a dead body of a photographer was recovered from Latpora, Pampore.

	September 15:
	One civilian and a LeT militant were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state.  

	September 16:
	Eight LeT militants were killed in encounters in the state.  

	September 17:
	Two army men, one militant were killed in violence related incidents while two dead bodies were recovered.  

	September 18
	A soldier and a teenager died in violence relate incidents in the valley.

	September 19:
	Three LeT militants were killed in violence related incidents while three CRPF men injured in different incidents of violence.

	September 20:
	Three militants including one JeM and a woman were killed in separate incidents of violence.

	September 21:
	Nine militants including two Let militants, one district Commander of Al Badr, one12-year boy and a father son were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

	September 22:
	One HM militant and a civilian were killed in different incidents of violence in the state.

	September 23:
	One militants and a civilian died in violence related incidents in the state.

	September 24:
	Five militants and one BSF personnel were killed in separate incidents of violence while a dead body of a 12th Class student was recovered from Udhampur.

	September 25:
	One lady cop and two civilians were killed in violence related incidents in valley.

	September 26:
	Army captain, and two militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.

	September 27:
	One HM militant killed in an encounter Ramban, Jammu.

	September 28:
	Two cops including one woman SPO, one HM militant and four civilians including a village level worker, a non-Kashmiri labourer were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.  

	September 29:
	Two LeT militants and civilian killed were killed in separate incidents of violence.  

	September 30:
	Two soldiers and a girl received injuries in two separate bomb blasts in valley.




TROOPS SHOOT A TEACHER


September 3: Troops of 57 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) allegedly shot at and critically injured a civilian in Bandipora. Ilyas Ahmad Wani son of Mohammad Maqbool Wani of Chak Reshipora a teacher by profession was shot at by the troops while he was going to a local Mosque to offer pre-dawn prayers. 


	He was rushed to the hospital where his conditions were stated to be critical. 


	Locals of the area said, following the incident the troops cordoned off the area apparently to give an impression that an encounter took place. Even the commanding officer of 57 RR said that the civilian was injured in cross fire between militants and troops.
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DOODIPORA PROBE





September 22: Government has appointed District and Session Judge Sayed Tariq Naqashbandi as inquiry officer to inquire into the causes and circumstances that led to the event of firing at Doodhipora, Handwara on February 22 - 2006, resulting in the death of four children. 


According to a government spokesman, the inquiry officer besides identifying the persons, if any, whose negligence caused the incident would fix the responsibility on the persons for using excessive force which resulted in the death of four persons and recommend whatever action is deemed necessary against the persons found negligent or guilty and also suggest remedial measures, if any, to avoid reoccurrence of such incidents in future.


The inquiry officer has been asked to submit his report within two months, the spokesman added.








PCHR legal cell on behalf of Abdul Rashid Zargar has filed a writ petition in the High Court for holding investigation into the killing of Mushtaq and Rashid and for prosecuting the perpetrators.





WOMEN-CHILDREN KILLED





September 7: A woman identified as, Tahira Akthar daughter of Ghulam Rasool of Amlar, Sumbal Bandipora succumbed to her injuries after being shot at by unknown gunmen on August 25. 


September 12: Unidentified gunmen shot dead an aged couple in Rajouri district of Jammu late in the night .� 	Police said that unidentified gunmen barged into the house of one Jamal-ud-Din, 50, at Thandi Dhok in Rajouri district and resorted to indiscriminate firing killing him and his wife Gudu Begum on spot. 


September 18: Fifteen-year-old Khursheed Ahmad son of Wai Mohammad who received grievous injuries in an explosion on Sep 17 succumbed to his injuries. 


September 20: Militants allegedly killed a woman and chopped her ears in Doda district. The deceased was identified as 36 year old Razia Begum wife of Musharat Hussain Ganai of village Bali in Gandoh area of Doda district. 


September 21: A 12 year boy killed in a was killed in a grenade blast at Chandilora Tangmarg in Baramulla district. . The deceased was identified as Hilal Ahmad Ahangar. Meanwhile, another boy of 17 years died in an explosion at Poonch, Jammu. In the incident his father also got killed. 


September 22:Dead body of a 12th girl student  was recovered from Udhampur, district Jammu. The deceased was identified as Shamima Akthar daughter of Abdul Ahad Bhat of Manlogi Salwa Mahore (Subdre) Thantharka, Udhampur. The reason of the killing was not ascertained.  


September 28: A lady SPO was shot dead by unidentified gunmen at Devar Lolab in Kupwara. The deceased was identified as Hasina belt No. 1093 / SPO D/O Ghulam Mohammad of Devel, Kupwara.   





Editorial








PAGE  
15
The Informative Missive

                                                                                 September 2006

